
 

 Council Meeting Agenda – October 26, 2021              1 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

CITY OF EVART 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 

Tuesday, October 26, 2021 @ 8:00PM 
 

The Regular Council Meeting will be held in the Community Room at the Depot located 
at 200 S. Main St. Evart, MI 49631  

  
Before each regular council meeting there will be a standing pre-council work session from 

7:30PM to 8:00PM. 
 

1. Pledge of Allegiance  
 

2. Call to Order: 8:00PM 
 

3. Roll Call  
 

4. Citizens’ Comments – limited to 3-4 minutes per individual  
 

5. Approval of Agenda 
 

6. Consent Agenda 
The purpose of the Consent Agenda is to expedite business by grouping non-controversial items together to be 
dealt with by one Board motion (roll-call vote) without discussion. Any person, whether Board Member, staff or 
public may ask that item be removed from the Consent Agenda to be placed elsewhere on the regular agenda for 
discussion. All such requests will be granted.  
A. Special Council Minutes – October 4, 2021  
B. Regular Council Minutes – October 5, 2021 
C. Special Council Minutes – October 11, 2021 
D. Vendor’s List $236,473.38 
E. Budget Amendments  

 
7. Unfinished Business  

F.  Selection of City Manager  
G.  Proposals of Purchase of Industrial Park Property   
 

8. New Business 
H.  Request to Approve Bid to Repair Sidewalk at Sixth and Main St.  
 I.  Proposal for Professional Services – 5 Mile Rd. Pump Station Improvements/OHM 
 

9. Department/Informational Reports (No Action Needed) 
J.  Accounts Payable Report (10/6/2021 – 10/26/2021)  
K.  Payroll Reports (10/6/2021 – 10/26/2021) 

City Council 
Mayor: Chris Emerick 
Mayor Pro-Tem: Sandy Szeliga 
Council: Dan Elliott 
Sean Duffy 
Matt Hildebrand 
City Clerk: Kathy Fiebig 
Interim City Manager: Richard Lewis 

City of Evart 
200 S. Main St.  
Evart, MI 49631 
(231) 734-2181 
 
 
 
 
 

www.evart.org 

http://www.evart.org/


 

 Council Meeting Agenda – October 26, 2021              2 
 

10. City Attorney Report/Comment 
 

11. City Clerk Report/Comment 
      
12. City Manager Report/Comment   

L.  Property Violations – Discussion  
M.  Update on Proposals for Planning and Zoning Services 

 
13.  Finance Director Report/Comment 

 N.  Finance Director Monthly Report – September 2021  
 

14.  Department of Public Works Report/Comment 
 O.  Monthly Report – September 2021 
 P.  Wildlife Management System at the Airport Property  
 Q.  Update on Airport Brush Clearance  
 

15.  Police Department Report/Comment 
 R.  Monthly Report – September 2021 
 

16.  Downtown Development Authority Report/Comment 
 

17.  Evart Area Fire Department 
 S.  Evart Area Fire Board Minutes/USDA Public Hearing – September 14, 2021 

            T.  Evart Area Fire Department Draft Budget 2022-2023 
 

18.  Evart Housing Commission 
 U.  Evart Housing Commission Minutes – August 17, 2021  
 V.  Evart Housing Commission Minutes – September 20, 2021 

 
19.  Citizens’ Comments – limited to 3-4 minutes per individual  

 
20.  Adjournment  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



1 
 

City of Evart Special Meeting Minutes 10.4.2021 
 

CITY OF EVART 
SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

Monday, October 4, 2021 @ 6:30pm 
Depot, 200 S. Main Street 

 
 

Mayor Chris Emerick led the assembly in the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Mayor Emerick called the meeting to order at 6:31pm. 
 
Present (via roll call): Sean Duffy, Mayor Emerick, Matt Hildebrand, Sandra Szeliga 
 
Absent: Dan Elliott 
 
Present (staff): City Clerk Kathy Fiebig 
 
Guests: Frank Walsh (Walsh Municipal Services, LLC) 
 
Citizens’ Comments – none 
 
New Business 
A. City Manager Search 
Mayor Emerick reminded council that since some of the candidates for city manager have 
requested confidentiality, this discussion will be held during a closed session. 
Motion by Mayor Emerick: “I move that council enter into closed session to review and consider 
the contents of applicants who have requested confidentiality as permitted under the Michigan 
Open Meetings Act MCL 15.268 Section 8 (f) for the position of Evart City Manager. I request 
the presence of Frank Walsh and City Clerk Fiebig.” Support by Mr. Hildebrand.  Motion passed 
with all in favor.  Council entered closed session at 6:33pm. 
Motion by Mr. Hildebrand to end the closed session.  Support by Mayor Emerick.  Motion 
passed with all in favor.  The closed session ended at 7:28pm. 
Motion by Mayor Emerick to reconvene council in open session.  Support by Mr. Hildebrand.  
Motion passed with all in favor.  Open session resumed at 7:28pm. 
Motion by Mr. Hildebrand: “Based on the discussion in the closed session, I move that we invite 
candidates #57, 65, 68 and 77 to interview in person with council for the city manager position.”  
Support by Ms. Szeliga.  Motion passed with all in favor. 
 
Citizens’ Comments – none 
 
Motion by Mr. Hildebrand to adjourn.  Support by Ms. Szeliga.  Motion passed with all in favor. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 7:29pm. 
 
 
 
______________________________________ 
Kathy Fiebig, City Clerk 
 



1 
 

City of Evart Council Minutes 10.5.2021 
 

CITY OF EVART 
REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

Tuesday, October 5, 2021 @ 8:00PM 
Depot, 200 S. Main Street 

 
 

Mayor Chris Emerick led the assembly in the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Present (via roll call): Sean Duffy, Mayor Emerick, Matt Hildebrand, Sandra Szeliga 
 
Absent: Dan Elliott 
 
Present (staff): Interim City Manager Richard Lewis, Finance Director/Treasurer Pepper Lockhart, 
Director of Public Works Dustin Moma, City Clerk Kathy Fiebig 
 
Guests: Mark Sochocki, Robert Eklund, Vanessa Jones, Dr. G. Steven Kalesperis, Robb LaPeen, Roger 
Elkins 
 
Approval of Agenda 
Motion by Mayor Emerick to approve the agenda as presented.  Support by Mr. Hildebrand.  Motion 
passed with all in favor. 
 
Approval of Consent Agenda 
A. Regular Council Minutes – September 28,2021 
B. Vendor’s List - $72,389.20 
Motion by Mr. Hildebrand to approve the consent agenda as presented.  Support by Mayor Emerick.  
Motion passed with all in favor. 
 
New Business 
C. Mark Sochocki – Housing Commission 2020 Audit 
Mr. Sochocki is the Executive Director of the Big Rapids Housing Commission and reminded council that 
the Evart Housing Commission has retained the Big Rapids Housing Commission for 
management/executive services.  He presented the audit of the Evart Housing Commission for the 2020 
fiscal year and requested that council accept the audit of the Annual Report of the Evart Housing 
Commission.  There were two significant deficiencies noted in the audit: six of six tenant files did not 
contain the required documentation.  Paychecks were prepared at the beginning of the month prior to 
work being performed by the employees, timecards were unsigned and required employment forms are 
missing.  Another issue noted was that 18% of credit card purchases were unsupported.  All of these 
issues are being addressed and corrected. 
D. Proposals of Purchase of Industrial Park Property 
Mr. Lewis advised council that two offers have been received for property in the industrial park, both of 
which include Lot 2, the McClellan property.  Lot 2 appraised at $400,000 sixteen months ago and the 
appraiser has suggested adding a 3% inflation increase for a current value of $412,000.  Lot 1, which is 
vacant land, just sold for $100,000 or $20,000/acre.  There has been some discussion about getting the 
rest of the vacant lots in the park appraised, and Mr. Lewis suggested using the recent sale as a 
comparable for this discussion. 
Dr. Steven Kalesperis (Utopian HeRxBs LLC) told council that he and Robb LaPeen (Birch Run Wellness 
Center LLC) intend to build a campus for growing, processing, prescribing, and selling medical and 



2 
 

City of Evart Council Minutes 10.5.2021 
 

recreational cannabis and hemp.  There will also be an educational component with students on site.  
Their offer is for $7,500/acre because the lots they are interested in are all listed at $70,000 but vary 
widely in size and his research has shown lots in the Evart area typically sell for $3,000-$5,000.  Mr. 
Hildebrand noted that such lots are farmland or residential, are not zoned industrial and cannot be 
compared to lots in the industrial park, which have water, sewer, police protection and US10 frontage.  
Dr. Kalesperis stated that if the lots appraise higher than $7500/acre, their maximum offer will be 
$10,000/acre and if they appraise at less, he expects the City to honor that price. 
Robert Eklund (Red Sky Partners) stated that he has been discussing the purchase of Lot 2 since May 
with former city manager Sarah Dvoracek.  He offered $400,000 at that time and is still interested in 
purchasing the property.  He is willing to pay $415,000 (cash sale) and would like to close within the 
coming week.  He will keep the current tenant in place. 
Mr. Hildebrand noted that the Utopian/Birch Run offer includes a six-month rental clause, which he 
believes puts the City at unnecessary risk and asked if they are willing to strike the rental clause and 
purchase the property outright.  Mr. Kalesperis said that was acceptable.  Mr. Hildebrand then 
requested that the offer be revised and presented as a purchase agreement rather than the lease 
agreement with option to buy currently on the table.  He also stated that the last major development n 
the park took twelve moths to complete, and that he does not think the March deadline for this project 
is at all realistic.  He reminded Mr. Kalesperis that the current rental agreement requires 90 days’ notice 
to the tenant.  Mayor Emerick voiced the concerns that this business model is new and therefore 
unproven and that the proposal mentions loans and grants, which are typically not available to cannabis 
projects.  She would like to see proof of funding. 
Mr. Lewis reiterated that it is highly unlikely that the Birch Run/Utopian agreement could be completed 
by their March 2022 deadline.  The 90-day notice to the tenant will not be given until the sale has 
closed, and the project will have to work its way through the Planning Commission and must have a 
development agreement.  He recommends that the City pursue appraisals for Lots 3, 4, 6, 7 and 8.   
No action taken.  
 
Departmental/Information Reports (No action needed) 
E. Accounts Payable Report (9/29/2021 – 10/5/2021) 
F. Payroll Reports (9/29/2021 – 10/5/2021) 
G. Revenue and Expense Report – September 2021 
 
City Attorney Report/Comment - none 
City Clerk Report/Comment - none 
City Manager Report/Comment 
Finance Director Report/Comment 
Ms. Lockhart stated that the annual audit is underway and going well.  Staff continues to schedule water 
meter replacements.   
Director of Public Works Report/Comment 
Mr. Moma reported that the storm clean up is substantially complete and staff has returned to their 
normal duties.  The Splash Pad will be winterized soon and the handicapped kayak launch will be pulled 
out for winter storage.  He is seeking quotes for a leaf vacuum which he believes would greatly expedite 
bulk leaf pick up in spring and fall, while keeping the street cleaner.  He’s having difficulty obtaining 
three bids and Mr Hildebrand said if that continues to be the case, Mr. Moma should present an agenda 
report with that notation and council will look at the options available.  
Police Department Report/Comment - none 
Downtown Development Authority Report/Comment - none 
Evart Area Fire Department - none 



3 
 

City of Evart Council Minutes 10.5.2021 
 

 
Citizens’ Comments: Roger Elkins stated that he understands that City Hall still has issues with the phone 
system.  He called this afternoon and couldn’t get through, but staff promptly returned his missed call.  
He appreciated the courtesy. 
 
Motion by Mayor Emerick to adjourn.  Support by Mr. Hildebrand.  Motion passed with all in favor.  The 
meeting was adjourned at 9:23pm. 
 
 
 
___________________________________________ 
Kathy Fiebig, City Clerk 
 
 



1 
 

City of Evart Special Council Minutes 10.11.2021 
 

CITY OF EVART 
SPECIAL CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

Monday, October 11, 2021 @ 7:30PM 
Depot, 200 S. Main Street 

 
 

Mayor Chris Emerick led the assembly in the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
The meeting was called to order by Mayor Emerick at 7:30pm. 
 
Present (via roll call): Sean Duffy, Mayor Emerick, Matt Hildebrand, Sandra Szeliga 
 
Absent: Dan Elliott 
 
Present (staff): Interim City Manager Richard Lewis, Finance Director/Treasurer Pepper Lockhart, City 
Clerk Kathy Fiebig 
 
Guests: Dr. G. Steven Kalesperis, Robb LaPeen, Dr. Steve Herrera 
 
Citizens’ Comments – none 
 
Approval of Agenda 
Motion by Mayor Emerick to approve the agenda as presented.  Support by Ms. Szeliga.  Motion passed 
with all in favor. 
 
Old Business 
A.  Potential sale of property in the Evart Industrial Park  
Mr. Lewis advised council that Robert Eklund of Blue Sky Partners has withdrawn his offer to purchase 
Lot 2 in the Industrial Park due to a funding deadline that ends today.  Ms. Lockhart noted that the 
McClellan principals (tenants of Lot 2) called today to express interest in submitting an offer but have 
decided to see what happens at this meeting before doing so.  Mr. Lewis noted that Dr. Kalesperis and 
Mr. LaPeen have submitted additional documentation for their offer but have not provided the proof of 
funding that council has requested.  Dr. Herrera stated that he will provide proof of funding within 5-7 
days for 10-20% of the base funding, as well as documentation of USDA hemp grants that are available. 
Mayor Emerick noted that in earlier discussions, Dr. Kaleperis and Mr. LaPeen had made multiple 
references to a March deadline and wondered if they are still interested given the fact that it’s a 
deadline that can’t be met.  Dr. Kalesperis stated that his state marijuana license expires in March and 
that he is pursuing an extension.   Yes, they are still interested. 
Mr. Hildebrand proposed the following counteroffer: The sale of Lot #2 at $415,000 plus the sale of Lot 
#3 at the appraised value with no discount. Lots #4, #6, #7, and #8 may be purchased, subject to future 
availability, as their development may require. The City would require one-fourth of the total sale price 
at the time of closing and would finance the balance over three (3) years at an interest rate not lower 
than three percent (3%) or higher than five percent (5%) with three (3) equal installments on the 
anniversary of the final sale date. It is understood by all parties that the development will go through 
the same process as similar industries within the Airport Industrial Park, i.e., Development Agreement, 
Planning Commission review of Site Plans, Special Use Permits, Licensing, and other requirements set 
forth in City statues.  Mr. Lewis recommended that council continue to work on this matter before 
signing a sales agreement to allow time for Dr. Kalesperis, Mr LaPeen and Dr. Herrera to provide a more 



2 
 

City of Evart Special Council Minutes 10.11.2021 
 

detailed business plan and proof of funding.  Dr. Kalesperis hopes that the available marijuana licenses 
will be set aside for their use in the meantime.   Mr. Hildebrand reminded him that the City has a formal 
process for applying for each license and that will be followed to the letter.  All licenses are first come, 
first served.  Mr. Hildebrand asked that staff get the additional lots in question appraised as quickly as 
possible.  Motion by Mayor Emerick to authorize staff to draft a purchase agreement and all other 
documents as needed to proceed with the sale of Lots 2 and 3 in the Industrial Park to Birch Run 
Wellness and Utopian HeRxBs.  Support by Mr. Hildebrand.  Motion passed with all in favor. 
 
Citizens’ Comments – none  
 
Motion by Mr. Hildebrand to adjourn.  Support by Mayor Emerick.  Motion passed with all in favor. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 8:15pm. 
 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Kathy Fiebig, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 











































































































 

 

Evart Police Department 

Monthly Report 

September 2021 

 

 

Community Events 
Foster’s Supermarket sponsored a 9/11 tribute and First Responders appreciation day. 

Free food and refreshments were offered, and the VFW conducted at 21-gun salute. 

 

 
 

Trainings 

Officer Chad Wilson completed the following trainings during the month of September: 

AXON (Taser) Certification 

Firearms Qualification 

Security Awareness Levels 1, 2, 3a and 3b from the Michigan State Police 

Basic LEIN Operator Certification with the Michigan State Police 

Behavior Symptom Analysis with John E. Reid and Associates, Inc. 

 

K9 Officer Patrick McClure and K9 Blue completed their annual qualification with the National Association 

of Professional Canine Handlers 

Officer McClure partnered with Officer Wilson as one of his field training officers during the month of 

September.   

 

Administrative Assistant Teresa Swift-Eckert attended the annual Law Enforcement Records Management 

conference. It was held this year via Microsoft Teams.  Subjects covered were abandoned vehicles, open 

cases, subpoena vs. discovery, MICR and wellness for the sedentary. 

 

Ordinance Enforcement 

A total of 9 hours were dedicated to ordinance enforcement in the month of September 

 

 



 

 

Department Roster 

Title Name Badge Number 

Chief of Police John Beam Jr. 39-01 

K9-Officer Patrick McClure 39-K9 

Full Time Police Officer Chad Wilson 39-04 

Part Time Police Officer JJ Higgins 39-06 

Part Time Police Officer Johnnie Daniels 39-03 

Reserve Officer Daniel Winters 39-14 

 

   

 TOTAL ACTIVITIES  

OFFICER TOTAL ACTIVITIES 

Beam, John Jr. 31 

Higgins, JJ 120 

McClure, Patrick 31 

Wilson, Chad 140 

TOTAL: 322 

 

 

   

 ARRESTS  

OFFICER NUMBER OF ARRESTS 

Higgins, JJ 2 

Beam, John Jr. 1 

McClure, Patrick 1 

Wilson, Chad 3 

TOTAL: 7 

 

 

  

 

 

 



 

 ASSISTS  

AGENCY NUMBER OF ASSISTS 

Assist Citizen 4 

Assist DHS 1 

Assist MIC Unit 3 

Assist MSP 1 

Assist OCSD 9 

Assist Police Agency 2 

TOTAL: 20 

 

 

 

  

 ACCIDENTS  

TYPE NUMBER OF ACCIDENTS 

Accident - PD 1 

Accident - PI 1 

Accident - Private Property 4 

TOTAL: 6 

 

   

     

 TRAFFIC 

VIOLATIONS 

 

OFFICER Traffic 

Complaint/Hazard 

Traffic Stop 

Citation 

Traffic Stop 

Verbal Warning 

Higgins, JJ 8 1 0 

McClure, Patrick 0 1 0 

Wilson, Chad 0 3 6 

TOTAL: 8 5 6 

 

  



     

 ORDINANCE VIOLATIONS   

OFFICER ORDINANCE VIOLATIONS ORDINANACE COUNT 

McClure, Patrick Ordinance Citation 1 

Wilson, Chad Ordinance Violation - 

Warning 

6 

TOTAL: 7 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 
























































